FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA J. WHITE

APR 10 1989

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 73,826

STACY BURCH,
KENNY MIKE BROWN,

Petitioners,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
301 North Olive Avenue/9th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-2150

ANTHONY CALVELLO
Assistant Public Defender
Chief, Appellate Division
Florida Bar No. 0266345

Counsel for Petitioners

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the prosecuting authority below, will be referred to as "Respondent" or the " State". Petitioner, Kenny Mike Brown, the criminal defendant below, will be referred to as "Petitioner Brown". Petitioner Burch, the criminal defendant below will be referred to as "Petitioner Burch" .

References to the two-volume record on appeal in the Brown case (DCA Case No. 88-930) will be designated "BR". References to the two-volume record on appeal in the Burch case (DCA Case No. 88-904) will be designated "R".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Kennv Mike Brown - DCA Case No. 88-930

Respondent-State filed an information in the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, Broward County charging that Petitioner-Brown on December 11, 1987, committed the first degree felony of sale, purchase, manufacture, or delivery of narcotics within one thousand (1000) feet of a school, in violation of § 893.13-(1)(e)¹, Fla. Stat (1987). (BR 31). Petitioner through counsel, then filed a Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.190 Motion to Dismiss (BR 32-33) and Memorandum of Law in support of said motion to dismiss. (BR 36).

A hearing was held in the trial court on Petitioner's motion, and those of numerous other defendants, before the Honorable Daniel Futch of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit on March 11, 1988. (BR 1-30). In addition to Petitioner's trial

¹ This statute reads, in pertinent part, as follows:

Except as authorized by this chapter, it is unlawful for any person to sell, purchase, manufacture, or deliver, or to possess with the intent to sell, purchase, manufacture, or deliver, a controlled substance in, on, or within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, middle, or secondary school. Any person who violates this paragraph with respect to:

1. A controlled substance named or described in § 893.03(1)(a), (1)(b), (1)(d), (2)(a), or (2)(b) is guilty of a Felony of the first degree, punishable as provided in § 775.082, § 775.083 or 775.084.

counsel, Assistant Public Defender Susan Porter, Ms. Pollack and Ms. Huard of that office also argued that said statute was unconstitutional.

At this hearing, defense counsels urged that because their clients had purportedly purchased drugs from undercover police agents within one-thousand (1000) feet from various schools during the evening hours, they were either entrapped as a matter of law, or otherwise treated fundamentally unfairly, requiring the dismissal of the charges against them under various constitutional theories. (BR 3-12).

As to the factual setting in this case, State v. Kenny Mike Brown, Petitioner Brown in his written Motion to Dismiss states that he "was arrested at approximately 8:00 p.m. for purchasing cocaine at 2563 Northwest 16th Court in Ft. Lauderdale, Florida (BR 11). This occurred within 1000 feet of Dillard High School (BR 11, 32). Petitioner Brown was arrested for violating section 893.13(1)(a) which had become effective October 1, 1987." (BR 32).

According to Petitioner Brown, the Broward County Sheriff's Office "set up a reverse sting operation within 1000 feet of Dillard High School. Defendant [Petitioner Brown] was arrested for purchasing cocaine from an officer." (BR 36). Judge Futch in his written order concluded that "law enforcement agencies have set up reverse-sting operations with police officers posing as drug sellers or buyers. The reverse-sting operations have taken

place after school hours and in residential neighborhoods." (BR 55).²

At the motion hearing, Petitioner Brown's counsel also argued that there is an additional ground to declare said statute unconstitutional not contained in her written motion. (BR 20). Citing Bunnell v. State, 453 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1984)

² In State v. Wilson, Case No. 88-1417, appeal pending, No. 88-0881, the defendant Wilson was charged with purchasing two cocaine rocks from undercover detectives. (BR 5-7). The purchase occurred on January 22, 1988 at 7:15 p.m. at 2563 Northwest 13th Court which is near Dillard High School. (BR 5). All of the sales of cocaine rocks by the undercover police officers to the defendants took place during the evening hours when the schools were closed and not in session. (BR 6). Another defendant, Kurris Pressley, was charged with purchasing one (1) cocaine rock from an undercover officer at the same location near Dillard High School. (R 8). A defendant, Janice Jackson, was charged with purchasing one (1) cocaine rock from an undercover officer at 6:53 p.m. near Deerfield Beach High School. (BR 9). Two other defendants Pamela Quince and Joyce Johnson also were charged with purchasing cocaine rocks. (BR 9-10).

In a similar case, Judge Coker of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in his written opinion found in State v. Montgomery, No. 87-21037 CF (17th Cir. March 16, 1988) appeal pending, No. 88-0854 (Fla. 4th DCA) (See Appendix 2) the following facts:

1. Mae Montgomery allegedly purchased three (3) cocaine rocks at approximately 7:20 p.m. on Friday, December 11, 1987.
2. The seller was a Broward Sheriff's Office deputy. This enforcement technique is commonly referred to as a "reverse sting."
3. Pursuant to measurements made by the Broward Sheriff's Office, they set up their reverse sting within 1,000 ft. of Dillard High School.
4. It has not been established that school was in session on the date and time in question or that any school age children were in the area.
5. Mae Montgomery had no prior criminal history.

Petitioner Brown argued that section 893.13(1)(e) which was part of the "Crime Prevention and Control Act", of 1987 Chapter 87-243, Laws of Florida violates the "One Subject Rule" contained in Article 111, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution (1968). (BR 38).

At the motion hearing, prosecuting counsel answered defense counsel's arguments with a legal discourse directed at the allegations of Petitioner Brown's written motion, and also urged that the police activity and methods utilized were a reasonable and necessary response to the high volume of ongoing drug trade in the sundry school neighborhoods. (BR 12,22,27-28).

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Futch GRANTED the defendant's Motion to Dismiss and declared Section 893.13(1)(e) UNCONSTITUTIONAL. At the motion hearing, the trial court ruled:

THE COURT: If the police would quit selling drugs, some of the users wouldn't be able to get it.

MR. SEIDMAN [Prosecutor]: I understand the Court's position, but we respectfully object.

THE COURT: You've got to go with it. I think the way it's done is an improper exercise of the police power. I think the statute is overly broad and accordingly -- did you want to say something else on the record.?

* * *

THE COURT: What about the hours of operation? Is a school a school after there's no school?

MR. SEIDMAN: Sure it is, Judge.

MS. HUARD [defense counsel]: If these cases are taking place in the daylight in front of the school, I can understand the police's conduct. But this is taking place in an area where you can't even see the school, it's nighttime there's no school children out and about.

THE COURT: I've got all kinds of problem. I've heard this argument two weeks ago, I've been thinking about it a lot, I read your memos, I've been giving it a lot of thought.

MR. SEIDMAN: I know you have.

THE COURT: I don't do it lightly, but I think it's overbroad, improper exercise of police power in this particular circumstance the way it's being done. Accordingly, I grant the motion to dismiss as unconstitutional.

(BR 26-27).

In his written order granting Petitioner Brown's Motion to Dismiss, the trial court found that:

1. The Statute F.S. 893.13(1)(e) as written, is vague and overbroad in its language.

The application of the Statute by law enforcement agencies is an abuse of the police power and fails to follow the legislative intent in that the law enforcement agencies have set up reverse-sting operations with police officers posing as drug sellers or dealers. The reverse-sting operations have taken place after school hours and in residential neighborhoods.
(BR 55).

Stacy Burch - DCA Case No. 88-904

Respondent-State filed an information in the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, Broward County charging that Petitioner Burch on November 24, 1987, committed the first degree felony of sale,

purchase, manufacture , or delivery of narcotics within one thousand (1000) feet of a school, in violation of § 893.13(1)(e), Fla. Stat. R 31. Petitioner Burch through counsel, then filed a Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.190 motion to dismiss and Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion to Dismiss. R 34-41. **As** to the factual setting in this case, State v. Stacy Qurch, the written Motion to Dismiss alleges that Petitioner Burch "was arrested on the evening of November 24, 1987, for selling cocaine within one-thousand (1000) feet of a school under the new statute § 893.-13(1)(e), that had become law on October 1, 1987." R 32.

Petitioner's trial counsel indicated at the hearing:

"That took place on November 24, 1987, 6:05 p.m. that was near Collins Elementary School and was in essentially the same position that Mr. Huard just pointed out in the 100 block of Northwest 6th Avenue. It was Officer Curry of the Hallendale Police Department who was working with Detective Maran and Detective Clawdale of the Dania Police Department in Dania." (R 12).

In addition to Judge Futch in the cases of Brown and Burch, supra, Judge Coker of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in a written order declared section 893.13 (1)(e) unconstitutional in the case of State v. Montgomery, No. 87-21037CF (17th Cir. Mar. 16, 1988), appeal pending, (Fla. 4th DCA No. 88-0854) (See Appendix 2). Judge Korda of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit declared the statute unconstitutional in State v. Brinegar, No. 88-4821CF (17th Cir. 1988), appeal pending, (Fla. 4th DCA No. 88-1555). Judge ~~Mc~~ of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit declared

the statute unconstitutional in State v. Mitchell, Case No. 87-18767CF (17th Cir. 1987), appeal pending, (Fla. 4th DCA No. 88-1400). Judge Tyson of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in a written order declared section 893.13(1)(e) unconstitutional in State v. McPhaul, No. 88-1422CF (17th Cir. April 29, 1988), appeal pending, (Fla. 4th DCA No. 88-1268). (See Appendix 3). And finally, Judge Polen declared section 893. 13(1)(e) unconstitutional in a written order in State v. Ferguson, No. 87-18756CF (17th Cir. April 27, 1988), appeal pending, (Fla. 4th DCA No. 88-1227). (See Appendix 4).

On February 8, 1989, in this case the Fourth District Court of Appeal in a written opinion, State v. Burch, 14 FLW. 382 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 8, 1989), reversed the order of the trial court and declared Section 893.13(1)(e), Florida Statutes (1987) constitutional. The Fourth District also rejected the argument advanced solely by Petitioner Brown who was charged with pur-
chasing cocaine within 1000 feet of a school that the misconduct of the police officers in this cause rose to the level of entrapment as a matter of law and/or a violation of the constitutional due process rights of Petitioner Brown. Hence the Fourth District rejected this alternative basis advanced solely by Petitioner Brown to uphold the trial court's order dismissing the information filed against him. However the Fourth District after noting the "multiplicity of appeals statewide" and that "many trial judges in our district have disagreed" on the issue

of the constitutionality of Section 893.13(1)(e), Florida Statutes (1987) certified the following question to this Honorable Court as a matter to be of great public importance:

IS SECTION 893.13(1)(e), FLORIDA STATUTES
(1987) CONSTITUTIONAL?

Petitioner timely filed a notice to invoke the jurisdiction of this Honorable Court in the lower tribunal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

The Trial Court declared Section 893.13(1)(e), Florida Statutes (1987) unconstitutional on its face and as applied. The Trial Court ruled that said statute as written was void for vagueness. The Trial Court further ruled that the enforcement of Section 893.13(1)(e) was not a valid exercise of the police power.

Petitioners contend Section 893.13(1)(e) is also unconstitutional on other grounds not expressly adopted by the trial court. Petitioners contend that Section 893.13(1)(e) is violative of the Equal Protection Clause of both the Federal and Florida Constitutions, fails to include a knowledge or mens rea element, violates the "one subject rule" provision of Article 111, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution and violates Article 111, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution.

Petitioners further contend that said statute violates the Eighth Amendment prohibition against Cruel and Unusual Punishment. One of the most shocking and outrageous aspect of this unconstitutional statute is the penalty provided for violators. It is the essence of cruel and unusual punishment. Hence the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal declaring said statue consitutional should be reversed.

POINT II

Even if the objective entrapment defense has been transformed into a jury question by the operation of Section 777.021, E.S. (1987), Petitioner Brown who was charged with purchasing cocaine within 1000 feet of a school maintains that the due process clause still remains to protect our citizens from the conduct of law enforcement agents so outrageous and shocking that due process principles would bar the State from invoking the judicial process to obtain a conviction.

It was only because of the deliberate police ploy of setting-up a reverse-sting operation at night in an area within 1000 feet of a school to lure unsuspecting drug purchasers to the proscribed area that Petitioner Brown opted to purchase cocaine within the specified proscribed area contained in Section 893.13(1)(e).

Hence in the context of the instant case, the trial court did not err in dismissing this enhanced first degree felony charge filed against Petitioner Brown on the alternative basis of the due process defense and/or entrapment as a matter of law.

POINT I

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING PETITIONERS' MOTION TO DECLARE SECTION 893.13(1)(e) UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE AND AS APPLIED.

Section 893.13(1)(e) was passed as part of the "Crime Prevention and Control Act," Chapter 87-243 (Section 4), Laws of Florida, and provides:

(e) Except as authorized by this chapter, it is unlawful for any person to sell, purchase, manufacture, or deliver, or to possess with the intent to sell, purchase, manufacture, or deliver, a controlled substance in, on, or within 1000 feet of the real property comprising a public or private elementary, middle or secondary school. Any person who violates this paragraph with respect to:

1. A controlled substance named or described in § 893.01(1)(a), (1)(b), (2)(a), or (2)(b) is guilty of a felony of the first degree, punishable as provided in § 775.082, § 775.084.

2. A controlled substance named or described in § 893.03(1)(c), (2)(c), (3) or (4) is guilty of a felony of the second degree, punishable as provided in § 775.083, or § 775.084.

The trial court declared Section 893.13(1)(e) unconstitutional. Petitioners maintain that Section 893.13(1)(e) is unconstitutional on the ground that it was passed into law in violation of Article 111, Section 6, of the Florida Constitution (1968) which is commonly called the "one subject rule." Petitioners also maintain that said statute is unconstitutional on the alternative grounds that it is void for vagueness, violates

the Equal Protection Clause, lacks a mens rea element, and violates the Eighth Amendment prohibition against Cruel and Unusual Punishment. The question certified by the Fourth District Court of Appeal should be answered in the negative and Section 893.13(1)(e) should be declared UNCONSTITUTIONAL on its face and as applied to Petitioner. Hence the decision of the Fourth District in the instant case should be reversed.

A. SECTION 893.13(1)(e) VIOLATES ARTICLE 111, SECTION 6, FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Article 111, Section 6, of the Constitution of the State of Florida includes a limitation on the passage of new legislation in Florida which is commonly called "the one subject rule":

Laws -- Every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title.. ..

This provision, which has ancient roots³ and exists in one form or another in the constitutions of most of our sister states⁴ serves an extremely important function. The consti-

³ The Lex Caecilia Didia, enacted by the Romans in 98 B.C., prohibited the lex satuta, a bill containing unrelated provisions. See Luce, Legislative Procedures 548 (1922).

⁴ As reported in 1982, forty-one state constitutions provided that an act shall not embrace more than one subject or object. (1A Sutherland Statutory Construction § 17.01, p. 1 (4th ed., 1985 rev.) The only states that have no such provision are Arkansas, Connecticut, Maine, Massachusetts, Mississippi, New Hampshire, North Carolina, Rhode Island and Vermont. (Id. at 3, n. 2.)

tutional requirement that every law shall have but one subject does not exist to hamper or impede the legislative process.

"The purpose of the requirement that each law embrace only one subject and matter properly connected with it is to prevent subterfuge, surprise, 'hodge-podge' and logrolling in legislation." Santos v. State, 380 So.2d 1284, 1285 (Fla. 1980). See also Brown v. Firestone, 382 So.2d 654, 663 (Fla. 1980); State v. Lee, 356 So.2d 276, 282 (Fla. 1978); Williams v. State, 459 So.2d 319, 320 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), app. dismissed, State v. Williams, 458 So.2d 274 (Fla. 1984). As this Court recently stated in Smith v. Department of Corrections, 507 so.2d 1080, 1085 (Fla. 1987), quoting State v. Lee, supra at 282:

The purpose of the constitutional prohibition against a plurality of subjects in a single legislative act is to prevent a single enactment from becoming a "cloak" for dissimilar legislation having a necessary **or** appropriate connection with the subject matter.

Our constitution commands that each law shall embrace one subject (and matters properly connected therewith). A real distinction between subject and object has been maintained by this Court. The subject has been said to be the matter to which the act relates; the object has been construed as the general purpose(s) of the particular legislation. See State v. Canova, 94 So.2d 181, 184 (Fla. 1957); Nichols v. Yandre, 151 Fla. 87, 9 So.2d 157, 158 (Fla. 1942); Spencer v. Hunt, 109 Fla. 248, 147 So. 282, 284 (1933).

In the analysis of what constitutes "one subject," this Court has held that "wide latitude must be accorded the legislature in the enactment of laws," and this Court will strike down a statute "only when there is a plain violation of the constitutional requirement that each enactment be limited to a single subject." Lee, 356 So.2d at 282. A bill's subject may be as broad as the legislature chooses provided there is a "natural and logical connection" among the matters contained within. Id. at 282. This Court in State v. Canova, supra, explained:

"In determining if matters are properly connected with the subject, the test is whether such provisions are fairly and naturally germane to the subject of the act, or are such as are necessary incidents to or tend to make effective or promote the objects and purposes of legislation included in the subjects."

Id. at 184.

The corollary of this formulation is that the challenged provision must not be designed to accomplish an object or purpose separate from that of the remainder of the legislation. State, ex rel. Landis v. Thompson, 120 Fla. 860, 163 So. 270 (Fla. 1935); Pilot Equipment Co. Inc. v. Miller, 470 So.2d 40, 42 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

It follows therefore that an act will not encompass only one subject if it was designed to accomplish separate and disassociated objects of legislative effort. Since 1868, the constitution of our State has contained a mandatory constitutional "one subject rule" provision. See Fla. Const., Article

IV, Section 14 (1868). This important constitutional provision should not be trivalized or degraded by application of some illogical or irrational "common sense" test that severely undermines the above test developed by this Court over the last one hundred years.

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