IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

STACY BURCH and	FILED SID J. WHITE
KENNY MIKE BROWN,	MAY 1 1989
Petitioners	CLERK, SUPREME COURT
vs.	CASE NO. 73,820 puty Clerk
STATE OF FLORIDA,) CADE NO. 75,020
Respondent.	

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JOHN TIEDEMANN
Florida Bar No. 319422
Assistant Attorney General
111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(407) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District properly determined that Chapter 87-243, Laws of Florida, of which § 893.13(1)(e) is a part, was not enacted in violation of either the "single subject rule" of legislation, or the "appropriations limitation rule" of legislation.

Moreover, the Fourth District also correctly determined that § 893.13(1)(e) is a rational exercise of the State's police power; need not require a "mens rea;" is not unconstitutional on due process grounds as "vague," for its meaning is clear; is not unconstitutional on equal protection grounds as having a disparate impact upon racial minorities; and does not prescribe cruel and unusual punishment. Furthermore the conduct of the police in selling Petitioner Brown cocaine was not so "outrageous" as to constitute a due process violation.

ISSUE

(PETITIONERS' POINTS I & 11)

IS SECTION 893.13(1)(e), FLORIDA STATUTES (1987) CONSTITUTIONAL?

ARGUMENT

The State respectfully contends that this Honorable Court should answer the above-certified question in the affirmative, and will discuss and refute petitioners' eight constitutional and quasiconstitutional challenges to the statute sequentially.

Ι

\$893.13(1)(e) IS NOT UNCON-STITUTIONAL AS ENACTED IN VIOLATION OF THE "SINGLE SUBJECT RULE" OF LEGISLATION

Petitioners first allege that 893.13(1)(e) is unconstitutional because Chapter 87-243, Laws of Florida, of which it is a part, was enacted in violation of the "single subject rule" of legislation.' The State disagrees.

This Court has established:

Where all the provisions of an act are germane to the subject and are properly connected with it, the criticism that it violates constitutional provisions restricting each law to one subject is not well founded.

<u>State ex. rel. Oglesby v. Hand</u>, 119 **So**. 376, 378 (Fla. 1929).

_ 4 _

 $^{^{}f 1}$ Article 111, Section 6, Constitution of the State of Florida.

The test to determine whether legislation meets the single-subject requirement is based on common sense. requires examining the act to determine if the provisions fairly and naturally germane to the subject of the act, or are such as necessary incidents tend to make effective or objects promote the legislation purposes οf included in the subject.

Smith v. Dept. of Insurance, 507 So.2d 1080, 1087 (Fla. 1987) (secondary attribution omitted). The State contents that the various sections of Chapter 87-243 all fairly bear upon the single subject of its title, "Crime Prevention and Control."

In <u>State v. Lee</u>, 356 So.2d 276 (Fla. 1978), this Court considered whether Chapter 77-468, Laws of Florida, relating to insurance and tort reform, violated the "single subject rule" because it dealt with both insurance and torts. The act contained 45 sections, most of which dealt with the problem of an increase in automobile insurance rates and related insurance difficulties. However, sections 38-41 dealt with certain aspects of tort litigation. The Court rejected the claim that the act violated the "one subject rule," id., 356 So. 2d 276, 282. In arriving at that conclusion, the Court reasoned that Article III section 6 was "not designed to deter or impede legislation by requiring laws to be unnecessarily restrictive in their scope and operation." Id. The Court noted that it "has consistently held that wide latitude must be accorted the legislature in the

enactment of laws," and emphasized that it "will strike down a statute only when there is a plain violation of the constitutional requirement that each enactment be limited to a single subject which is expressed in the title." Id. "The subject of a law may be as broad as the legislature chooses provided the matters included in the law have a natural and logical connection." Id.

In Chenoweth v. Kemp, 396 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 1981), this Court whether Florida, debated Chapter 76-260, Laws of was unconstitutional because it contained provisions covering medical malpractice, tort litigation, and insurance reform. Its preamble detailed broad and differentiated legislative findings, including that there was a medical malpractice insurance crisis that threatened the quality of health care service; that the tort law/liability insurance system for medical malpractice would eventually break down; and that the continuing crisis demanded immediate and dramatic legislative action. The Court ruled, in Chenoweth, that Chapter 76-260 did not violate the "one subject The Court reiterated that "the subject of an act may be as broad as the Legislature chooses as long as the matters included in the act have a natural or logical connection." Id., 396 So. 2d 1122, 1124. The Court held that "[w]hile Chapter 76-260 covers a broad range of statutory provisions dealing with medical malpractice and insurance reform, these provisions do relate to tort litigation and insurance, which have a natural or logical connection." Id.

In Smith v. Dept. of Insurance, the Court considered whether the 1986 Tort Reform and Insurance Act, Chapter 86-160, Laws of Florida, violated the "single subject rule." The Court found that the act was the legislative solution to the commercial insurance liability crisis. The Legislature had set forth its findings that such a crisis existed in the preamble of the act, stating that there was a financial crisis in the liability insurance industry; that there was a dramatic increase in the cost of insurance coverage; that the absence of insurance was adverse to the Florida economy; and that if the crisis was not abated, people would be unable to purchase insurance and injured persons would be unable to recover damages. Id., 507 So. 2d The Court reviewed its previous holdings on this matter and once again stated that the subject of an act "may be as broad as the Legislature chooses as long as the matters included in the act have a natural or logical connection." Id., 507 So. 2d 1080, 1085.

The Court found that this extensive, 70-section act covered five basic areas:

- 1. Long-term insurance reform
- 2. Tort reform
- 3. Temporary insurance reform
- **4.** Creation of a task-force to study tort reform and insurance law
- 5. Modification of financial responsibility requirements applicable to physicians.

Id., 507 So. 2d 1080, 1086. The Court, in upholding the constitutionality of Chapter 86-160, found that the Legislature had explained in the preamble of the act how the tort reform and the insurance regulation provisions were connected. Id. Ιt emphasized, as noted, that the test to determine whether the "legislation meets the single-subject requirement is based on common sense." Hely 507 So. 2d 1080, 1087. The test "requires examining the act to determine if the provisions are fairly and naturally germane to the subject of the act, or are such as necessary incidents to or tend to make effetive or promote the objects and purposes of legislation included in the subject," (secondary attribution omitted). This Court held that the act did not violate the single subject requirement because the legislation dealt with one goal, i.e., "the availability of affordable liability insurance, and that "civil litigation does have an effect on insurance and there is no reasonable way that we can say they are not properly connected." Id.

In the instant case, petitioners' claim that Chapter 87-243 violates the "single subject rule" is contrary to the holdings of Lee, Chenoweth and Smith. The act contains 76 sections, all of which are naturally and logically connected. The Legislature in enacting Chapter 87-243 found that Florida is facing a crisis because of the rapidly increasing crime rate. Its findings were set out in the preamble:

WHEREAS, Florida is facing a crisis of dramatic proportions due to a rapidly increasing crime rate, which crisis demands urgent and creative remedial action, and

WHEREAS, Florida's crime rate crisis affects and is affected by numerous social, educational, economic, demographic and geographic factors, and

WHEREAS, the crime rate crisis throughout the State has ramifications which reach far beyond the confines of the traditional criminal justice system and cause deterioration and disintegration of businesses, schools, communities and families, and

WHEREAS, the Joint Executive/Legislative Task Force on Drug Abuse and Prevension strongly recommends legislation to combat Florida's substance abuse and crime problems, and asserts that the crime rate crisis must be the highest priority of every department of government within the State whose functions touch upon the issue, so that a comprehensive battle can be waged against this most insidious enemy, and

WHEREAS, this crucial battle requires a major commitment of resources and a non-partisan, non-political, cohesive, well-planned approach, and

WHEREAS, it is imperative to utilize a proactive stance in order to provide comprehensive and systematic legislation to address Florida's crime rate crisis, focusing on crime prevention, throughout the social strata of the State, and

WHEREAS, in striving to eliminate the fragmentation, duplication, and poor planning which would doom this fight against crime, it it necessary to coordinate all efforts toward a unified attack on the common enemy, crime....

Just as the Legislature showed the connection between the various aspects of Chapter 86-160 in its preamble, so too has it shown the connection between the various aspects of Chapter 87-243 here.

The bill may be divided into three basic areas:

- 1. Comprehensive Criminal Regulations and Procedures (sections 1-29, 39-54; 75-76);
- 2. Money Laundering (sections 30-38); and
- 3. Safe Neighborhoods (sections 55-74).

These areas all clearly involve the legislative goal of controlling crime, whether through the traditional method of providing for imprisonment, or through the innovative methods of both taking away the profits of crime and promoting education and safe neighborhoods. Applying the test as set out in Smith v.
Dept. of Insurance, 507 So. 2d 1080, 1087, this Court must conclude that all of the provisions of Chapter 87-243 are fairly and naturally germane to the very legitimate goal of fighting crime.

Petitioners, in tacitly urging this Court to ignore the detailed precedents of Lee, Chenoweth and Smith, rely almost exclusively upon the Court's cursory opinion in Bunnell v. State, 453 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1984). See also Williams v. State, 459 So.2d 319 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), appeal dismissed, 458 So.2d 274 (Fla. 1984). In Bunnell, the Court struck down a statute criminalizing giving false information to the authorities because other portions of the act of which it was a part involved the workings of a council on criminal justice. The State has never pretended that the legislation it seeks to defend here could pass "single subject" muster under the highly restrictive Bunnell standard. However, the State vigorously submits that since the Bunnell holding is plainly inconsistent not only with this Court's prior decisions taking a broader view of the parameters of the "single

subject rule, see e.g. Trawick v. State, 1 So. 2d 641, 642 (Fla. 1941), Board of Public Instruction of Broward County v. Doran, 224 So.2d 693, 698-699 (Fla. 1969), Lee v. State, and Chenoweth v. Kemp, but also with subsequent decisions taking the same view, Smith v. Dept. of Insurance and In Re Advisory Opinion To The Governor, 509 So.2d 292, 312-313 (Fla. 1987), it is simply not controlling, compare Eustis Packing Co. v. Martin, 122 F. 2d 648, 650 (5th Cir. 1941), State ex. rel. Garland v. City of West Palm Beach, 193 So. 297, 298 (Fla. 1940), appeal dismissed, 309 U.S. 639 (1940). The Fourth District, in the unanimous decision under review, accepted the State's contention to this effect. State v. Burch, 14 F.L.W. 382, 385-386. Accord, Blankenship v. State, 14 F.L.W. 950 (Fla. 2nd DCA April 12, 1989).

It <u>is</u> viable, and certainly no insult to this esteemed Court, to suggest that <u>Bunnell</u> and <u>Smith</u> conflict <u>sub</u> <u>silentio</u>. In his majority opinion in <u>Albernaz v. United States</u>, 450 U.S. 333, 343 (1981), Justice Rehnquist suggested that in the double jeopardy area, the United States Supreme Court's "decisional law...it is a veritable Sargasso Sea which could not fail to challenge the most intrepid judicial navigator;" the same is true of the Court's decisions in the single subject area. Given that the Florida Legislature in enacting Chapter 87-243 could in good faith have concluded that <u>Smith</u> rather than <u>Bunnell</u> controlled, the State would question whether the Court might hold that \$893.13(1)(e) was not unconstitutionally enacted even if a violation of Article 111, Section 6 arguably occurred. Cf.

United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897 (1984). The State would further question whether an appropriate remedy for any such arguable violation would be to declare some of the substantial sections of the act void, rather than its Moreover, the State would note that any single centerpiece. subject violation in the enactment of Chapter 87-143 by the 1987 Florida Legislature will be prospectively cured by the 1989 Legislature's anticipated reenactment of its statutory sections, including \$893.13(1)(e). See State v. Combs, 388 \$0.2d 1029 (Fla. 1980), Santos v. State, 380 So.2d 1284 (Fla. 1980), and Florida Statutes, Vol. I (1987), "Preface," p. vi.

ΙI

§893.13(1)(e) IS NOT UNCONTSITUTIONAL AS ENACTED IN VIOLATION OF THE "APPRO-PRIATIONS LIMITATION RULE" OF LEGISLATION

Petitioners next allege that §893.13(1)(e) is unconstitutional because Chapter 87-243, of which it is a part, was enacted in violation of the "appropriations limitation rule" of legislation.² The State disagrees.

The fatal flaw in petitioners' argument is their view that sections 47(9) and 66 of Chapter 87-243, which provide for recoupment of criminal investigative costs and grants for safe neighborhoods, respectively, are either "laws making appropriations for salaries of public officers" or "laws making

² Article 111, Section 12, Constitution of the State of Florida

appropriations for...other current expenses of the state" such that the act of which they are a part "shall contain provisions on no other subject" under Article III, Section 12. Clearly, neither section directly appropriated any particular sum of available money, either for any public officers' salary or for any current State expenses. Instead, these sections merely allocate anticipated revenues for the narrow appear to prospective purposes of investigative cost recoupment and neighborhood protection, respectively. Compare Amos v. Moseley, (Fla. 1917), establishing that the 77 So. 619, 623-626 appropriations limitation rule of legislation now embodied in Article III, Section 12 pertains only to "general appropriations rather than those bills which merely authorize "incidental" expenditures "necessary [and] proper" to secure their objects; see also Brown v. Firestone, 382 So.2d 654, 663 (Fla. 1980) and Dept. of Education v. Lewis, 416 So.2d 455, 459 (Fla. 1982). Moreover, the "Commentary" to Article 111, Section 12 provided in Florida Statutes Annotated, Vol. 25A, p. 779 (1970) also makes it plain that not every legislative monetary allocation is covered by this clause. The Fourth District, of course, agreed with the State's views on this issue. State v. Burch, 14 F.L.W. 382, 386.

III

§893.13(1)(e), ON ITS FACE AND AS APPLIED, DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN UNREASONABLE EXERCISE OF THE STATE' "POLICE POWER" Petitioners further allege that §893.13(1)(e), on its face and as applied, constitutes an unreasonable exercise of the State's "police power." See generally 10 Fla. Jur. 2nd "Constitutional Law" §§ 185, 200-203 (1979). The State disagrees.

A similar issue was addressed <u>United States v. Aqilar</u>, 612 F.Supp. 889, 890 (D.C.N.Y. 1985), wherein the court stated regarding our statute's federal counterpart, 21 U.S.C. § 845(a) of the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention & Control Act of 1970 (BR 47):

The statute must only satisfy a test of rationality. Only if the statute establishes a presumption that is irrational will it violate due process and be held invalid. See Cleveland Board of Education v. La Fleur, 414 U.S. 632, 94 S.Ct. 791, 39 L.Ed 2d 52 (1974); United States Department of Agriculture v. Murry, 413 U.S. 508, 93 S.Ct. 2832, 37 L.Ed 2d 767 (1973); Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645, 92 S.Ct. 1208, 31 L.Ed 2d 551 (1972). Congress has a legitimate and powerful interest in protecting school children from the detrimental effects of the sale of narcotics and enhanced the penalties which are to be imposed upon dealers who distribute narcotics within one thousand feet of a school, presumably on the assumption that a drug dealer who knew that an enhanced penalty would be imposed is less likely to distribute narcotics near a school. By focusing on the single transaction involved in this indictment, and not on the more general presumed prophylatic effect of § 845(a), Agilar has challenged what appears to be a rational exercise of Congress' authority.

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